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1
% APPEARANCES: (Cont i nue d 1 PROCEEDING
Reptg. Residential Ratepayers: 2 (Hearlng resumed at 2:08 pm)
4 i gL 2l 0 Eea. . o Mvecaie | 3 CHAIRMAN GETZ: Okay. Were back on the
5 Office of Consumer Advocate 4 record in DE 10-195. Anything to address before we turn
6 Reptg. PUC Staff: ?
Sugagne G Anmidon, Esq. 5 toMr. BersaK- .
7 Edward N. Damon, Esq. - 6 MS. HATFIELD: Mr. Chairman, | can
Thomas C. Frantz, Director/Electric Div. , . )
8 George R MO uskey, Electric Division | 7 report that I've spoken with all of the parties about the
9 8 need for briefs or request for briefs. And, | think it's
10 9 fair to say that the parties, other than Staff, Staff, |
11 10 understand, is not taking a position, but | think it's
12 11 fair to say that the other parties agree that, in light of
13 12 potentia time delays that a briefing schedule could
14 13 create, aswell asthe expense of briefs, that the
15 14 parties, other than Staff, will not be asking for briefs
16 15 and don't believe that they're necessary. But, of course,
17 16 the Commission has the discretion to request them.
17 CHAIRMAN GETZ: Okay. Then, of course,
18 18 the notion would be closing statements, without briefs,
19 19 from asubstantial magjority of the parties?
20 20 MS. HATFIELD: Yes.
21 21 CHAIRMAN GETZ: Okay. Which | would
22 22 takethat the closing statements would be of some length.
23 23 I'mthinking to the issue of whether we're going to get
24 24 donetoday, or | think our schedule is open tomorrow, if
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1 we had to come back tomorrow. 1 Q. If thedatathat you input into the model vary, would
2 But let me put all that aside for now, 2 you expect that the predicted output would also likely
3 and move ahead with cross-examination and see wherewe | 3 change?
4 are. But, Ms. Amidon? 4 A. (Frantz) Absolutely. Asamatter of fact, the model
5 MS. AMIDON: If | may, there'sa 5 works both ways.
6 representative from Councilor Burton's officeintheroom, | 6 Q. You arefamiliar with Dr. Shapiro's update regarding a
7 and shedid provide prior to -- right at thelunch breaka | 7 new development that is dependent on the Laidlaw
8 copy of an additional letter from Councilor Burton. So, | 8 facility being built, that would create approximately
9 youwill find that inthefile. We have arranged forit | 9 65 more jobsin Berlin. Isthat an example of a change
10 to befiledinthe Docketbook. And, | just wantedto |10 ininput that would affect the output of such a model?
11 point that out to you, that thereis an additional filing |11 A. (Frantz) Yes.
12 inthere. 12 Q. Evenif you use an extremely large number of very
13 CHAIRMAN GETZ: Okay. Thank you. |13 accurate inputs, isn't it quite likely that the actual
14  Anything else? 14 economic impact might vary from what the model
15 (No verbal response) 15 predicts?
16 CHAIRMAN GETZ: All right. Mr. Bersak. |16 A. (Frantz) Yes.
17 MR. BERSAK: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |17 Q. Inyour testimony, on Page 6, at Line 3, you basically
18 Good afternoon, Mr. McCluskey. 18 state that you don't believe the conclusion contained
19 WITNESS McCLUSKEY : Good afterncon. |19 in Dr. Shapiro'stestimony. The reason you giveis,
20 MR. BERSAK: And, Mr. Frantz. 20 "The reason is not that Dr. Shapiro's analysisis
21 WITNESS FRANTZ: Good afternoon. |21 serioudly flawed or that the model is fundamentally
22 CROSS-EXAMINATION (resumed) 22 flawed...but rather that Dr. Shapiro makes no provision
23 BY MR. BERSAK: 23 for the fact that this contract's prices are above
24 Q. [I'll start with you, Mr. Frantz. Hopefully, I'll be |24 market." Do you see that?
Page 6 Page 8
1 able to get through you very quickly here. Isit 1 A. (Frantz) Yes.
2 correct to say that your testimony was limitedtoa | 2 Q. | takeit that you're not testifying that the energy
3 discussion of the economic benefits of the Power | 3 market price forecasts are any more accurate than an
4 Purchase Agreement which we filed here for approval? | 4 economic input/output model in predicting the future?
5 A. (Frantz) Yes. 5 A. (Frantz) Well, | wouldn't say that.
6 Q. And,isitasotrue, you'renot alogger, butyoudo | 6 Q. What would you say?
7 own a chainsaw? 7 A. (Frantz) The relationshipsin input/output are highly
8 A. (Frantz) True. 8 dependent on how good the input datais. But the
9 Q. Okay. Now that we've established that, we can moveon. | 9 actual or structural relationships based on --
10 Y ou described the use of the NIMS || model asan |10 depending on the actual model area, based on the
11 input/output model. Am | correct in my understanding |11 relationships of those industries that are adjusted for
12 of that that you input various economic assumptions, |12 leakages or changes to aregion from the national
13 and then the model then predicts certain output |13 models. And, depending on the type of modeling that's
14 economic results? 14 done, and the industry or final demand that's actually
15 A. (Frantz) Aninput/output model portrays the 15 changed, they can be fairly representative.
16 relationships of an economy. |t portrays what 16 Q. So, what you're saying is that an input/output economic
17 industries purchase directly from other industries, as |17 model is much more accurate than an energy price
18 well as what households purchase as final demand. And, |18 forecast?
19 through the use of an input/output model, which |19 A. (Frantz) No. I'm saying it depends alot on, asin all
20 includes alot of other actual matrices, you get |20 modeling, how good the data goesin and the
21 multiplier effects that show what anincreasein |21 interpretation of the model and who the modeler is.
22 $1 million worth of final demand will actually require |22 Q. Areyou familiar with the New England REC market?
23 from the particular industry, aswell asthe other |23 A. (Frantz) Somewhat.
24 industries upstream from that industry. 24 Q. From your familiarity with that market, do you believe
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1 that from now through 2025 that there will be 1 with lessincome." Do you see that?
2 sufficient Class | RECs produced to satisfy theRPS | 2 A. (Frantz) | do.
3 needs throughout the region? 3 Q. Thismorning, your panel mate, Mr. McCluskey, described
4 A. (Frantz) | haven't donethat analysis. And, | believe | 4 REC payments as an "additional revenue stream that
5 that's probably a question better for Mr. McCluskey. | 5 renewabl e plants need to be competitive with
6 Q. Butisit possible that there may not be enough RECs | 6 traditional types of generation." Do you recall that?
7 generated to satisfy the legal demandsintheregion? | 7 A. (Frantz) | do.
8 A. (Frantz) Again, | think that's a question that's 8 Q. lsn't the entire RPS law founded upon subsidies?
9 contained in Mr. McCluskey's testimony. 9 A. (Frantz) Itis.
10 Q. Areyou familiar with any new plants actually being |10 Q. So, the RECsthemselves, the payments to make a plant
11 constructed in the region that would supply Class| |11 that's not competitive to be competitive in the
12 RECs? 12 marketplace is a subsidy?
13 A. (Frantz) Biomassfacilities or others? 13 A. (Frantz) Correct.
14 Q. Either one. 14 Q. And, Alternative Compliance Payments that are paid to
15 A. (Frantz) Well, obvioudly, there's some wind projects |15 the Commission are used to make what the statute calls
16 that are getting built that would qualify for Class| |16 "incentive payments”, is that correct?
17 RECs. 17 A. (Frantz) Yes.
18 Q. Do wind projects provide a substantial number of RECs, |18 Q. So, those incentive payments are subsidies, too, would
19 as compared to, say, a biomass plant? 19 you agree?
20 A. (Frantz) It depends on the capacity factor. Most wind |20 A. (Frantz) Yes.
21 facilities have a capacity factor somewhere betweenthe |21 Q. So, if | understand your testimony, the logical
22 high 20s and very low 30s for onshore, and offshoreis |22 extension would be that, stated another way, the RPS
23 probably in the 40s. 23 obligations don't create wealth, they simply -- it
24 Q. Youwere asked this morning by Mr. Edwards about the |24 simply transfers wealth, isthat correct?
Page 10 Page 12
1 "existing wood plants’. By and large, dothoseplants | 1 A. (Frantz) | think there's quite a bit of literature by
2 produce Class | RECs? 2 economists on that issue.
3 A. (Frantz) By and large, they're Class 111 facilities. | 3 Q. And, what do they say?
4 Q. Withonly asmall piece of Alexandrial believethat's | 4 A. (Frantz) They say it'satransfer of wealth.
5 qualified for Class1? 5 Q. Thank you. So, based, if you take the next step then,
6 A. (Frantz) Correct. 6 the RPS laws |leave consumers with less income?
7 Q. If the REC value forecast in Mr. McCluskey'stestimony | 7 A. (Frantz) Absolutely.
8 was, for whatever reason, incorrect, wouldn't that have | 8 Q. But, notwithstanding that economic castigation, or
9 an impact on the input/output model resultsthat you | 9 whatever you want to call it, the law is the public
10 performed and enhance on your testimony? 10 policy of the state, and something that Public Service
11 A. (Frantz) Well, to the extent that the variablesthat go |11 of New Hampshire and the Commission must follow,
12 into the input/output change. For example, if there's |12 correct?
13 less over-market costs to ratepayersin the Stateof |13 A. (Frantz) We are often, in economics, working with
14 New Hampshire, that would affect what those multipliers |14 constraints. And, that is an economic constraint. The
15 are for income and output and potentially jobs. And, |15 policy has been made, the payments will be paid, and
16 to the degree that they're higher than what | looked |16 now the question becomes "what's the best way to meet
17 at, likewise, they would have greater effect onlossof |17 those policy goals?
18 jobs and outpui. 18 Q. So, inanutshdll, it sounds like what the Commission
19 Q. Over again on Page 6 of your testimony, downonLine |19 really is dealing with hereis asignificant public
20 20, you testified that, " Stated another way, creating a |20 policy decision?
21 subsidy for this project or any other, for that matter, (21 A. (Frantz) Absolutely.
22 doesn't create wealth for the economy asawhole. It |22 Q. Thank you. Mr. McCluskey, near the beginning of your
23 simply transfers wealth. Above market paymentsfor |23 testimony, on Page 2, at Line 17, you testify that "A
24 electricity leave the total electricity-using group |24 focal point", basically, of your public interest
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1 analysis of the PPA "is whether the PPA pricesreflect | 1 Q. Would it surprise you that akey basis of Concord -- of
2 the lowest prices necessary for the facility to receive | 2 Clean Power Development's complaint initiating that
3 financing and earn areasonable return.” Isthat | 3 docket was that, without a PPA, they cannot get
4 correct? 4 financing for their project?
5 A. (McCluskey) That's correct. 5 A. (McCluskey) Asl said, | wasn't -- I'm not familiar
6 Q. Thank you. So, it seemsthat you agreethatthe | 6 with any of the materials that are submitted in that
7 ability to recelve financing isacrucial element of | 7 docket.
8 whether a PPA meets the public interest, is that 8 Q. OnPage9, at Line 8, of your testimony you discuss
9 correct? 9 your view of the cost of the PPA. Y ou answer the
10 A. (McCluskey) If aparticular project cannot be financed, |10 question "Could the final pricetag be higher?' And,
11 there would be little point in spending time reviewing |11 your response was "It could." Let me ask the other
12 it. So, yes, if the goal isto develop renewable |12 question. Could the final price tag be lower?
13 resources through long-term contracts, then one of the |13 A. (McCluskey) Yes. | believe what | was referring to
14 issues that has to be addressed is whether the project |14 there, with regard to it being higher, the price tag
15 can be financed. 15 being the total cost paid by PSNH over of the term of
16 Q. And, why isit necessary for adeveloper to receive |16 the agreement. Clearly, the more megawatt-hours
17 financing? 17 generated by the project, the greater will be the
18 A. (McCluskey) Well, there are significant capital costs |18 payments by PSNH. That will depend critically on
19 incurred in developing these projects. Some of which |19 capacity factor, the actual capacity factor of the
20 will be covered by equity investors, some of which will |20 facility. So, to the extent that increase isrelative
21 be covered by banks or other financial ingtitutions. |21 to the 87.5 that we've used in our analysis, then the
22 And, so, there's a need to cover those costs. 22 costswill go up. If the actual capacity factor is
23 Q. So, basicaly, if they don't get financing, the project |23 lower, the total costswill go down over the 20-year
24 doesn't get built? 24 term.
Page 14 Page 16
1 A. (McCluskey) Certainly, no project that I'm familiar | 1 Q. And, if wood prices decreased?
2 with is financed 100 percent with equity, atleastno | 2 A. (McCluskey) If wood prices decreased relative to the
3 renewable project. 3 $34, again, on average, over the 20-year term, then,
4 Q. | reviewed your biography or your resumé at GRM-1,and | 4 yes, there would be areduction in the total price tag.
5 | don't see any listing of experience of workingfora | 5 Q. So, prices could be higher, prices could be lower,
6 developer, such as Laidlaw. Do you have such 6 correct?
7 experience working for a developer? 7 A. (McCluskey) That's right.
8 A. (McCluskey) | don't. No. 8 Q. And, wereally don't know where the prices are going to
9 Q. Haveyou ever dealt directly with investment bankerson | 9 be, do we?
10 behalf of adeveloper to obtain financing for anew |10 A. (McCluskey) Well, the Company did do -- did develop the
11 project? 11 indicative prices for energy from the assumption that
12 A. (McCluskey) No, | have not. 12 fuel prices would grow over time at a 2.5 percent per
13 Q. Mr. McCluskey, you're probably aware that the |13 annum. Now, --
14 Commission opened a docket involving acomplaint |14 Q. That would -- I'm sorry.
15 against Public Service Company of New Hampshire, Docket |15 A. (McCluskey) If | could finish. Clearly, if they grow
16 Number DE 09-067, involving Clean Power Development and |16 less faster or if they decline, then, obviously, the
17 Concord Steam? 17 energy prices will move in the same relationship.
18 A. (McCluskey) I'm aware of it, but that's probably the |18 Q. And, those"if"sthat you just mentioned, there are
19 extent of my knowledge. | certainly have not read any |19 certainly possibilities?
20 materials from that particular filing. 20 A. (McCluskey) It's possible that fuel costs would go
21 Q. And, both of those entities, both Concord Steam and |21 down. I'm not sure whether anybody's really expecting
22 Clean Power Development, are or were full party |22 or projecting that, but it's possible.
23 intervenors in this proceeding, is that correct? 23 Q. Under the PPA, isit your understanding that the energy
24 A. (McCluskey) They were. That's correct. 24 price is composed of a Base Energy Charge and aWood
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1 Price Adjustment? 1 of $21.80, the parties, Laidlaw, PSNH, the both of
2 A. (McCluskey) There's three componentsto the energy | 2 them, projected out over time over the 20 years what
3 price. There'sthe fuel component, fuel costs, which | 3 the O&M costs would be. And, they assumed inflation,
4 I've said is assumed to start at $34, and increase over | 4 and then they turned that stream of nominal costsinto
5 time. There'san O&M component. And, thefuel | 5 alevelized price. And, so, | think what's been agreed
6 component also can increase, depending on how Schiller | 6 isa-- they have attempted to project what those costs
7 costs vary, relative to the base price. So, there's | 7 would be and reflect that in the levelized charge. |
8 essentially three components. There's the fuel 8 accept that it's not a guarantee of full recovery, but
9 adjustment, the fuel, base fuel cost, and there'sthe | 9 | think it's an attempt to cover reasonably estimated
10 O&M component of the energy price. 10 O&M costs over the life of the project.
11 Q. I believe you're talking about somewhere around Page 15 |11 Q. But you do agree that, as you said on Page 6, that the
12 of your testimony, where you state your view that |12 risk of O& M costs growing at arate differently than
13 "$21.80 per megawatt-hour" of the energy priceisa |13 anticipated lies with the devel oper?
14 constant amount that "does not change over thetermand |14 A. (McCluskey) That's correct. And, | think | actually
15 appears to represent the levelized charge that will |15 say that in my testimony. The risksto do with the
16 collect over the 20-year term the estimated O& M costs |16 capital costs of the project and O&M is on the
17 for the facility." 17 developer.
18 A. (McCluskey) What page was this? 18 Q. Let'sturntothe Wood Price Adjustment. The Wood
19 Q. | believeit'son Page 15, Line7. 19 Price Adjustment utilizes the price of wood paid by
20 A. (McCluskey) | don't believeit'sthere. 20 PSNH at Schiller Station as an index, isthat correct?
21 Q. Let'ssee. How about -- oh, Page 7, Line 15. 21 A. (McCluskey) That's correct. You'rereferringto a
22 Sometimes I'm dyslexic when | write down my references. |22 particular page?
23 Page 7, Line 15. I'm sorry, Mr. McCluskey. And, |23 Q. No, justin general.
24 you're talking about the O& M charges, that'sthe |24 A. (McCluskey) Okay.
Page 18 Page 20
1 "$21.80 per megawatt-hour" that's on lane? 1 Q. Justingenera. It'syour understanding that the Wood
2 A. (McCluskey) That's correct, yes. 2 Price Adjustment is an index based upon the price of
3 Q. Youacknowledgeon | believeit'sPage6[337], | 3 wood at Schiller?
4 Line 33[67], that Laidlaw issubject to theriskthat | 4 A. (McCluskey) That's correct.
5 O&M costs will rise more than they expect”, correct? | 5 Q. No trickson that one. Do you agree that, as an index,
6 A. (McCluskey) Yes. Becausethereisno tracker on O&M | 6 that the Wood Price Adjustment is intended to increase
7 costs, likethereis on fuel costs, thisfixed O&M | 7 the payment to Laidlaw when the cost of wood in the
8 component could actually turn out to be higher or lower | 8 market goes up and decrease as money goes down?
9 than actual O&M costs, so theresarisk to Laidlaw,to | 9 A. (McCluskey) It'sintended to track, asyou said,
10 the owner of the project. 10 Schiller costs.
11 Q. But several pageslater, on Page 30, Line 20, you |11 Q. Areyou aware of any other readily available public,
12 testify that O& M costs "are effectively collectedona |12 verifiable source of wood price information that could
13 dollar-for-dollar basis through the energy pricesin |13 be used as an index, other than the Schiller prices?
14 the PPA." 14 A. (McCluskey) I'm not aware, but | haven't studied it.
15 A. (McCluskey) Page 30? 15 And, | don't believe | take a position against the Wood
16 Q. Yes, dir. 16 Price Adjustment.
17 A. (McCluskey) Line? 17 Q. No, | don't believe you did either.
18 Q. Line20. Hopefully, | don't have that onereversed, |18 A. (McCluskey) Thank you.
19 too. Youjust testified that "thereis no tracker". |19 Q. Appreciate that one.
20 That the prices of or the costs of O&M couldrise |20 A. (McCluskey) We're on the same page.
21 differently than what was anticipated. So, isthere |21 Q. Okay. At the bottom of Page 6, and continuing on Page
22 truly adollar-for-dollar collection of O&M in the PPA? |22 7 of your testimony, you discuss how the energy price
23 A. (McCluskey) You're correct. | think the point that | |23 is calculated, isthat correct?
24 was trying to make was that, in developing thisprice |24 A. (McCluskey) Yes.
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1 Q. What you referred to asthe "Energy Price” iscalled | 1 A. (McCluskey) Yes. It'sjust finding it in this-- yes,
2 the "Adjusted Base Price" in the PPA. Areyou awareof | 2 | think | haveit.
3 that? Do you have the PPA and could look at Section | 3 Q. Let megiveyou thisone. You can have this one, which
4 6.1.2? 4 issuper-sized. Makeit alittle bit easier and I'll
5 A. (McCluskey) Yes. | think that's-- | agreewiththat, | 5 giveyou ablue pen. It appears that the price of
6 yes. 6 energy at the Locational Marginal Priceiswhat's
7 Q. Okay. And, yourecall that thereisaformulainthe | 7 depicted on the left in red, isthat correct?
8 PPA to calculate the Adjusted Base Priceinthe PPA? | 8 A. (McCluskey) The marginal energy pricesin the wholesale
9 A. (McCluskey) Yes. 9 market is on the | eft.
10 Q. And, isthat calculation very difficult? 10 Q. And, it appearsthat over this short time frame that's
11 A. (McCluskey) | don't recall. Areyou referringtothe |11 depicted here, about 7 years, that the L ocational
12 conversion from fuel costsin dollarspertonto |12 Marginal Price varied from about $40 up to $80, isthat
13 dollars per megawatt-hour, isthat what you're 13 correct?
14 referring to? 14 A. (McCluskey) Yes. On -- these are average annual
15 Q. Oh, what I'm talking about hereis, wetakealook at |15 prices.
16 the PPA, in Section 6.1.2, should be on Page 10, right |16 Q. Yes. Unfortunately, because there was not much time
17 at the top of that page. 17 between last Tuesday's session and today, I'm going to
18 A. (McCluskey) Page 10? 18 have to ask you to do some simple calculations with me,
19 Q. Yes. Thisis-- I'mlooking at the -- | believethe |19 if you could please indulge me.
20 redacted and unredacted versions are the same, though. |20 Do you recall that, on Tuesday, Mr.
21 The Page 10 I'm looking at starts at the top, it says |21 Traum discussed datain Attachment PSNH Rebuttal 7,
22 "such adjustment (the "Adjusted Base Price") shall be |22 which is at the end of PSNH's rebuttal testimony?
23 computed as follows." 23 A. (McCluskey) | don't recall.
24 A. (McCluskey) It isthe conversion of dollars per ton of |24 Q. Do you have acopy of PSNH Attachment -- or, Attachment
Page 22 Page 24
1 fuel coststo a-- oh, that's the Wood Price 1 PSNH Rebuttal 7 available to you?
2 Adjustment. Isthat what you're referring to? 2 A. (McCluskey) PSNH's rebuttal testimony?
3 Q. Yes, there'stwo piecesthere. So, oneof them,the | 3 Q. Yes. It should bethe last page of the rebuttal
4 third line down, says "Adjusted Base Price[isthe] | 4 testimony.
5 Base Price plus the Wood Price Adjustment”, correct? | 5 A. (McCluskey) You'rereferring to Page 37?
6 A. (McCluskey) Correct. 6 Q. Let'ssee. Isit37? I'll tell you herein asecond.
7 Q. And, the Wood Price Adjustment is above that, "1.8 | 7 Forty-five. | believe, Page Number 45. And, up inthe
8 times the actual average dollars per ton minus $34 per | 8 top left it should say "Attachment PSNH Rebuttal 7.
9 ton", correct? 9 Do you have that, Mr. McCluskey?
10 A. (McCluskey) That's correct. 10 A. (McCluskey) Yes, | do.
11 Q. Now, thoselook to meto berdatively simple 11 Q. Thank you. Now, Attachment PSNH Rebuttal 7 shows wood
12 calculations to be made? 12 prices from 2004 to 2010, isthat correct?
13 A. (McCluskey) | agree with that. 13 A. (McCluskey) Yes.
14 Q. And, thereisactualy only one variable there, isthat |14 Q. These prices were for Concord Steam Corporation. But,
15 correct? 15 during the earlier yearsin that period, in the 2004,
16 A. (McCluskey) The actual average price perton. |16 '05, '06, '07, those kind of years, Schiller 5 was not
17 Q. Correct. Thanks. I'dlikeyoutoturntoanew |17 yet converted to burn wood, was it?
18 exhibit that you provided late in the afternoon last |18 A. (McCluskey) In the 2004 period, is that what you're
19 Tuesday, Staff Exhibit 15. The one that you titled |19 saying?
20 "Laidlaw PPA Energy Prices Compare Unfavorablyto |20 Q. Yes.
21 Historic Wholesale Electricity Prices." Do havethat |21 A. (McCluskey) I'll accept that.
22 exhibit? 22 Q. S0, let'sjust use these prices as what Mr. Traum
23 A. (McCluskey) If you could give me a moment. 23 referred to in histestimony asa"proxy" for wood
24 Q. Sure. It'sthe chart, like this[indicating]. 24 prices. The last column on Attachment PSNH Rebuttal 7
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1 isentitled "Average dollars per ton", isthat correct? | 1 Q. We've got the same thing for the next five years. I'll

2 A. (McCluskey) Uh-huh. Yes. 2 just give you the numbers, and | understand you'll have

3 Q. And, for each year, do you see at the bottom of each | 3 to accept them subject to check. At 2006, can you put

4 yearly grouping that there's an annual price noted, an | 4 adot at $63.94?

5 average annual price noted, such as"$17.51" perton | 5 A. (McCluskey) 63 --

6 for the year 20047 6 Q. 63.94. And, for 2007, $64.60. 2008 would be $72.92.

7 A. (McCluskey) Yes, | seethat. 7 A. (McCluskey) 2018?

8 Q. If youuse $17.51 asaproxy wood price, what wouldthe | 8 Q. 2008, 72.92. 2009 --

9 resulting price of energy be using the PPA'senergy | 9 A. (McCluskey) I've been inserting the dots under the
10 price formulathat we just discussed on thetop of |10 green line. So, you want me to insert them starting
11 Page 10 of the PPA? Am | correct that you would first |11 with 2004, | see.

12 take that wood price of 17.51, and subtract thebase |12 Q. Yes.
13 wood price of $34? 13 A. (McCluskey) Yes.
14 A. (McCluskey) That's correct. 14 Q. Wedll, | cantell youwhat. You know, to save you from
15 Q. And, that would give you a negative $16.49? 15 that, | think I've got one that is actually completed.
16 A. (Frantz) Correct. 16 (Atty. Bersak distributing documents.)
17 A. (McCluskey) Correct. 17 MR. BERSAK: What is the next PSNH
18 Q. And, then, you would multiply that difference by the |18  exhibit number?
19 wood price conversion factor of 1.8 to get anegative |19 MS. DENO: Nineteen.
20 $29.68? 20 MR. BERSAK: I'd like to mark the
21 A. (McCluskey) That's correct. 21  amended version of Staff Exhibit 15 as"PSNH Exhibit 19",
22 Q. And, that amount is negative, because the wood price |22  so we can refer to it from here on, Mr. Chairman.
23 for that year was, in fact, less than the base wood |23 CHAIRMAN GETZ: So marked.
24 price. Do you agree with that? 24 (The document, as described, was

Page 26 Page 28

1 A. (McCluskey) | agree with that. 1 herewith marked as PSNH Exhibit 19 for

2 Q. Okay. Then, you subtract that negative amount or, | 2 identification.)

3 basically, you subtract 26.98 from the base energy | 3 WITNESS McCLUSKEY: So, just for

4 price of 83, and you agree that you would get aprice | 4  clarification, Mr. Bersak?

5 of $53.32 per megawatt-hour for that year? 5 MR. BERSAK: Yes.

6 A. (McCluskey) Yes. 6 WITNESS McCLUSKEY : Thesefuel prices

7 Q. Canyou takethat blue marker | gaveyouand putadot | 7  starting in 2004, these are not Schiller prices, isn't

8 on that super-sized copy of Staff Exhibit 15| provided | 8  that correct?

9 you, and put adot at the intersection of the year 2004 | 9 MR. BERSAK: That iscorrect. Aswe
10 and $53.32? 10  discussed earlier, Schiller was not operating in these
11 A. (McCluskey) Okay. 11 earlier years, and so we have to use a proxy.

12 Q. Thank you. Now, the next year, on Attachment PSNH | 12 WITNESS McCLUSKEY : And, the proxy is
13 Rebuttal 7, for 2005, it said that the average priceof |13~ Concord Steam, isthat what you're saying?

14 wood per ton for that year was "$20.80". Do you see |14 MR. BERSAK: Correct. So, to kind of
15 that? 15  show the relative increase/decrease of wood prices using
16 A. (McCluskey) Yes. 16  the PPA's energy formula historically.

17 Q. And, will you accept that, if you were to go through |17 WITNESS McCLUSKEY : But, importantly,
18 that same set of calculations, that the resulting price |18 they are not Schiller prices?

19 under the PPA's energy formulawould be $59.24 per |19 MR. BERSAK: That is correct. Schiller
20 megawatt-hour? 20 did not burn wood in those early years.

21 A. (McCluskey) I'll accept that subject to check. 21 WITNESS McCLUSKEY:: That's correct.
22 Q. Okay. If you could just put adot therefor 2005 at |22 MR. BERSAK: So, it wouldn't have been a
23 $59.24, I'd appreciate it. 23 goodideafor usto be buying wood. I'm not sure that
24 A. (McCluskey) Okay. 24 would have been a prudent decision.
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1 BY MR.BERSAK: 1 you just said was not there is actually there, reading
2 Q. If you wereto connect the dots, which | read outto | 2 "Attached hereto as Attachment PSNH Rebuttal 2 isa
3 you, you'd have a blue line intertwined in, you know, | 3 chart showing energy pricing from 2003 to present,
4 amongst the red line that you had put on your chart. | 4 comparing the |SO-New England wholesale energy market
5 Do you see that blue line? 5 price to the energy price that would have been
6 A. (McCluskey) Yes. 6 caculated using the PPA's pricing mechanism. This
7 Q. And, thisisarepresentation of how the PPA'senergy | 7 chart depicts a pricing result under the PPA's pricing
8 price calculation would have worked historicaly, using | 8 mechanism that is more stable and less volatile than
9 known wood prices for Concord Steam, versusknown | 9 the wholesale market. Furthermore based on actual
10 energy prices, isthat correct? 10 wholesale market prices, the PPA pricing mechanism
11 A. (McCluskey) For Concord Steam, yes. That appearstobe |11 produced prices that on average would have been
12 the case. 12 essentialy at the wholesale market." Isthat the
13 Q. Using this comparison, would the energy prices |13 testimony you said that we did not supply?
14 determined using the PPA's energy pricing formulahave |14 A. (McCluskey) You read it out correctly. There'sno
15 compared favorably to what you represented asthe |15 mention of the use of Concord Steam fuel pricesin the
16 average locational marginal price of energy? 16 development of that chart.
17 A. (McCluskey) You're asking me whether the margina |17 Q. Asamatter of fact, if you look at the chart, we
18 energy prices compare favorably with Concord Steam's |18 didn't use Concord Steam's for this particular chart,
19 energy prices? 19 did we? It says, on the bottom of Attachment PSNH
20 Q. I'mjust saying, the blue line that has been graphed, |20 Rebuttal 2, "pricing determined using average overall
21 connecting the dots which were just put on this chart, |21 New Hampshire wood pricing as reported by the
22 would that line represent energy prices that compare |22 Timberland Owners Association." Do you see that?
23 favorably with the locational marginal pricing for (23 A. (McCluskey) Just one moment. Yes, | seethat.
24 those years? 24 Q. Butwe don't have the Timberland Owners Association's
Page 30 Page 32
1 A. (McCluskey) In some periods, they appear to be below. | 1 average prices as matters of record in this proceeding,
2 In some periods, they appear to be above. But these | 2 do we?
3 arenot Laidlaw PPA energy pricesaswas stated inthe | 3 A. (McCluskey) | haven't seen them.
4 heading, in the title of the chart that you provided. | 4 Q. Hence, the use of aproxy with pricesthat arein the
5 Q. True 5 record, the prices from Concord Steam. |If you compare
6 A. (McCluskey) That's the important difference. 6 the blue line on the exhibit now marked as "PSNH
7 Q. |think weredlizethat. | don't think -- the Laidlaw | 7 Exhibit 19", with the green line on Attachment PSNH
8 plant hasn't been built yet, hasit? 8 Rebuttal 2, don't they substantially represent an
9 A. (McCluskey) Yes. But thetitle claimed that the | 9 identical result?
10 "Laidlaw PPA energy prices compared favorably" -- |10 A. (McCluskey) Okay. Which one? What are we looking at
11 Q. Okay. Putting that aside, -- 11 right now?
12 A. (McCluskey) If | could finish my statement. Compared |12 Q. The blueline on the left-hand side of PSNH Exhibit 19,
13 favorably with historic wholesale electricity prices. |13 the one with the dots that you were --
14 Y ou are now saying that these prices that were plotted |14 A. (McCluskey) Thisisthe one that you just handed me?
15 have nothing to do with the Laidlaw project. It's |15 Q. Yes. And, if you compare that with the green line,
16 based on Concord Steam fuel prices. If the Company had |16 Attachment PSNH Rebuttal 2, aren't they substantial --
17 explained that in its testimony, and had a correct |17 don't they demonstrate substantially the same pricing
18 title in the chart, we would have saved ourselvesalot |18 phenomena?
19 of time. 19 A. (McCluskey) It's difficult to say "yes' or "no". One,
20 Q. You do havethe Rebutta Testimony of Mr. Long, Mr. |20 the market prices are showing annual averages, and the
21 Large, and Mr. Labrecque available? 21 chart that was provided by the Company showed monthly
22 A. (McCluskey) | do. 22 variations. It has the same general shape, but, other
23 Q. Couldyouturnto Page4. Beginning at Line 30. Isn't |23 than that, | couldn't comment further.
24 it true that, beginning on Line 30, that that testimony |24 Q. But, in general the trend of up and down prices are the
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1 same on both graphs? 1 A. (McCluskey) I've heard that argument. It's not the
2 A. (McCluskey) Yes, | think so. 2 most obvious one, obvious objective. But I've heard
3 Q. So, if apricing mechanism, such astheoneinthe PPA | 3 that argument. Actually, | heard it at LaCapra and
4 wasin use during this 2003 to 2010 time frame, it | 4 elsewhere.
5 appears it would have provided energy pricingthat was | 5 Q. If youlook back at PSNH Exhibit 19, at that line that
6 less volatile, but roughly in the same average or same | 6 we plotted using actual wood prices. Now, | think that
7 ballpark as LMP, would you agree with that? 7 we agreed -- that you agreed that the energy pricing
8 A. (McCluskey) Not necessarily. The pricesthat we have | 8 formula produced aresult that was less volatile than
9 just plotted | believe reflect the fuel cost component | 9 the locational marginal price of energy, based on the
10 of the energy price. Correct? Do theseincludethe |10 stability of energy prices under this pricing mechanism
11 $2.80 aswell? In that case, yes. That would bethe |11 in the PPA, wouldn't such a pricing mechanism be
12 case. 12 consistent with such a view that RPSs could provide a
13 Q. Thank you. 13 hedge against price volatility?
14 A. (McCluskey) Based on the Concord Steam fuel prices. |14 A. (McCluskey) Well, this particular trend that you
15 Q. | believe you have some awareness of the LaCapra |15 plotted just reflects the fuel prices during that
16 Assaociates consulting firm, am | correct? 16 period. It may be that the -- there was very little
17 A. (McCluskey) Yes. 17 volatility in fuel prices at that time, which does not
18 Q. Your GRM-1 exhibit indicates that you were a Senior |18 suggest that it's always going to be that way.
19 Consultant with LaCaprafor approximately six years? |19 Q. | think what you're telling meis those things | hear
20 A. (McCluskey) Correct. 20 on TV on the investment ads, --
21 Q. LaCapraprepared areport entitled "Analysisof a |21 A. (McCluskey) If I could finish -- if I could finish my
22 Renewable Portfolio Standard for the State of North |22 Statement.
23 Carolina." Areyou familiar with that document? |23 Q. -- that past results are not indicative of future
24 A. (McCluskey) Was this during my period? 24 performance?
Page 34 Page 36
1 Q. It might have been begun when you were there, perhaps. | 1 A. (McCluskey) | was trying to finish the statement and
2 But I think the final report was dated sometimein late | 2 you just interrupted me.
3 2006. 3 Q. Wdl, I'msorry.
4 A. (McCluskey) In that case, I'm not aware of it. 4 A. (McCluskey) We've looked at avery narrow period.
5 Q. Would you disagree with afinding that LaCapramade | 5 There may have been very little volatility in the
6 that "one of the bases for instituting an RPSlaw was | 6 prices that Concord Steam was experiencing. That does
7 to hedge against price volatility or increasing fuel | 7 not indicate that, prior to that period or after that
8 costs'? 8 period there would be no volatility, significant
9 MS. AMIDON: Mr. Chairman, | object, | 9 volatility in fuel prices. So, just pointing to this
10  because Mr. McCluskey just said that he wasn't aware of |10 trend does not demonstrate that there will always be
11 thisreport. 11 less volatility in the energy prices for arenewable
12 CHAIRMAN GETZ: Well, | think the |12 project, compared with the wholesale market.
13 general conclusion is something that he can pursue. |13 Q. So, you're saying that renewable projects may be more
14 WITNESS McCLUSKEY': it you could giveme | 14 volatile than the market in general?
15  thequestion again. Recognizethat you asked meto |15 A. (McCluskey) In certain periods.
16  comment on aconclusion where | haven't readthe-- |16 Q. So, you disagree -- you disagree with the Legislature
17 MR. BERSAK: Okay. 17 then, isthat correct?
18 BY MR. BERSAK: 18 A. (McCluskey) I'm not sure what you're referring to.
19 Q. Oneof theconclusionsinthe LaCaprareport, inthe |19 Q. Isn'tittruethat in RSA 362-F:1, that one of the
20 summary, at iv in that report, was that one of the |20 purposes that the Legislature cited for enacting RPS
21 reasons for instituting an RPS law was to provide a |21 was to "stabilize future energy costs by reducing
22 "hedge against volatile or increasing fuel costs." You |22 exposure to rising and volatile fossil fuel prices'?
23 agree that that's areason perhaps for adopting RPS |23 A. (McCluskey) That's the -- that's the Legidlature's
24 reguirements? 24 opinion.
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1 Q. I'msorry, | couldn't hear you. 1 Q. Butyou are aware, and we've discussed it many times,
2 A. (McCluskey) That'sthe Legislature's opinion. I'mnot | 2 that the wood price at Schiller today is not $34, but
3 agreeing or disagreeing with it. | haven't actually | 3 is $27 per ton, correct?
4 done any analysis to determine whether, in fact, that's | 4 A. (McCluskey) Well, | believe that refers to the month of
5 the case. 5 January of thisyear. Time will tell whether that's an
6 Q. But, whether the Legislatureisright or wrong, they | 6 aberration. We just don't have sufficient data. And,
7 create the law that we must follow, isthat correct? | 7 | would -- the $34 that we are talking about as the
8 A. (McCluskey) They do. 8 base price is based on, it's my understanding, it's
9 Q. Let'stakealook back again one moretimeat PSNH | 9 based on recent prices at Schiller. Thelast three
10 Exhibit 19. And, you have agreen linethat you |10 years result in an average price of $33.75 per ton,
11 plotted on that original chart, which was Staff 11 excluding the last quarter, which was unavailable, the
12 Exhibit 15. And, that lineisintended to represent |12 last quarter of 2010.
13 "PPA Energy Price", isthat correct? 13 Q. But, if onewereto use the present $27 per ton price
14 A. (McCluskey) That's correct. Under the assumption -- |14 for wood at Schiller, will you agree that the resulting
15 Q. And, so, -- 15 energy price would be $70.40 per megawatt-hour under
16 A. (McCluskey) Under the assumption of $34 aton, |16 the energy price formulain the PPA?
17 increasing at 2.5 percent annually. 17 A. (McCluskey) If that proved -- if $27 proved to be an
18 Q. So, the 2.5 percent annual adjustment was something |18 average annual price, say, for 2014, the first year of
19 like an inflation factor to get that upward trajectory? |19 the term, then that would be the energy price.
20 A. (McCluskey) Correct. 20 Q. Okay.
21 Q. So, it'shardly asophisticated analysis, isit? 21 A. (McCluskey) If it turns out to be something closer to
22 A. (McCluskey) It wasn't intended to be. It wasjust |22 historic prices at Schiller, then the energy price will
23 plotting the energy pricesthat werereflected in |23 be substantially higher than that.
24 Mr. Labrecque's Attachment RCL-1. 24 Q. | think the one thing that we agree on so far, Mr.
Page 38 Page 40
1 Q. Doyourecal last Tuesday that you criticized the | 1 McCluskey, isthat nobody knows the future, do they?
2 Levitan capacity prices because "at theend of the | 2 A. (McCluskey) Not with certainty. But prices can be
3 period, for example, he simply adjustsit using some-- | 3 forecast using reasonable methods and approaches and
4 something like an inflation factor. So, it'shardlya | 4 reasonabl e assumptions.
5 sophisticated analysis that resulted in the capacity | 5 Q. Anything can be forecast, like the weather. But it
6 prices for the back-end of this forecast period”, at | 6 doesn't mean it's going to be an accurate forecast.
7 the end of the period. Do recall that testimony? | 7 A. (McCluskey) What's your definition of "accurate"?
8 A. (McCluskey) | think there's a big difference betweena | 8 Perfect foresight? If that's your definition, then |
9 piece of work that isintended to be a capacity price | 9 would agree; we don't have perfect foresight. Can we
10 forecast for the ISO-New England forward capacity |10 reasonably project where prices are going to go based
11 market, and the depicting on this chart of energy |11 on reasonabl e inputs and reasonable methods? Then,
12 prices that are reflected in the Company's own exhibit. |12 yes. | think developing aforecast is absolutely
13 Q. Butyou stated earlier during your testimony that we |13 necessary for PSNH to be able to demonstrate that it's
14 really don't know what wood prices are going to be |14 made prudent decisions with regard to the purchase of
15 going forward, do we? 15 fuels, the construction of facilities. All businesses
16 A. (McCluskey) Wedon't. But the Company, initswisdom, |16 need to utilize forecasts to help them in their
17 decided to use a base of $34, increasing that 17 decision-making. To throw up your hands and say "we
18 2.5 percent annually. I'm not criticizing that asa |18 have no idea where the prices for the important
19 bad assumption. Rather than use something else, we |19 products that our business depends on is arecipe for
20 simply used the projection, forecast, whatever you want |20 disaster.
21 to call it, that the Company had in its own exhibits. |21 And, I'm sure, if a utility wereto say
22 Q. You stated earlier that the $83 price was only accurate |22 that, and then come in and seek recovery of the costs
23 if the price of wood at Schiller is $34, correct? |23 that resulted from that kind of decision-making, then
24 A. (McCluskey) That's correct. 24 there would be some questions about the prudency of
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1 those decisions. So, utilities need forecasts, evenif | 1 A. (McCluskey) That's correct.
2 we know that they are not accurate, meaning 2 Q. Youtestified in your direct testimony, on Page 7, |
3 "100 percent foresight". They need those forecaststo | 3 believe that was, Page 7, that "PSNH will pay
4 help them make rational decisions. 4 approximately $1.6 billion to Laidlaw." Does that
5 Q. And, were similar forecasts used during the early days | 5 $1.6 billion that we -- that the Company will pay take
6 of the implementation of PURPA, which led to myriad | 6 into account the present drop in fuel cost to $27 per
7 rate ordersissued by this Commission? 7 ton?
8 A. (McCluskey) | wasn't here at thetime. | don't exactly | 8 A. (McCluskey) No. Thiscalculation is based on the $34 a
9 know what the process was during the PURPA period. | 9 ton, increasing at 2.5 percent annually.
10 Q. Butyou are awarethat, ultimately, those rate orders |10 Q. So, achangein fuel -- in wood price, from $34 per ton
11 created substantial over-market costs for consumers, |11 to $27 per ton, significantly changes the cost of the
12 correct? 12 PPA, doesn't it?
13 A. (McCluskey) I'm aware that -- they did alittlebit |13 A. (McCluskey) If it were $27 aton over 20 years, is that
14 more than forecast. They actually established the |14 what you're saying?
15 prices based on those forecasts. And, itwasnotthe |15 Q. Over 20 years, or if the fuel prices vary from what you
16 forecasts that got them into trouble, it was the 16 have put into your testimony or what you've based your
17 pricing approach. Very few long-term contracts, the |17 testimony on?
18 acquisition of fuels are not done based on asingle |18 A. (McCluskey) I've aready agreed that the energy prices
19 forecast today. There are a number of ways of working |19 are subject to actual fuel costs at Schiller. And,
20 inindicesin order to cover for movementsin important |20 hence, the actual payments by PSNH will go up and down,
21 price inputs, in order to protect both the buyer and |21 depending on how they compared to the base price.
22 the seller. So, | would agree that the methods used to |22 That's reflected in Mr. Labrecque's attachment, and
23 establish those prices were questionable at best. And, |23 that's also reflected in this calculation.
24 I'm sure they wouldn't be repeated again. Nooneis |24 Q. So, your testimony that "PSNH will pay $1.6 billion" is
Page 42 Page 44
1 suggesting that -- | will leaveit at that. 1 not correct, isit?
2 Q. OnPage7, Line3, of your testimony, you testified | 2 A. (McCluskey) | agree. It's subject to the outcome of
3 that, "Over the 20-year [period], PSNH will pay | 3 the fuel costs at Schiller.
4 approximately $1.6 billion to Laidlaw for the products | 4 Q. Wereally don't know, do we?
5 produced by the facility. About one-third of this | 5 A. (McCluskey) We don't know what?
6 total payment will be for the production and delivery | 6 Q. What PSNH will pay during the course of the PPA?
7 of RECsto PSNH, ahuge sum for arelatively small | 7 A. (McCluskey) We don't know to the dollar. | think this
8 project.” Isthe cost of -- 8 is areasonable estimate. We don't know, because we
9 A. (McCluskey) Which page? 9 don't know what the output is. If thisfacility
10 Q. Page7, Line3. 10 performs significantly better than the 87.5 capacity
11 A. (McCluskey) Page 7. 11 factor that's assumed in this calculation, then the
12 Q. Just let me know when you're with me. 12 dollar figure could be substantially higher than 1.6.
13 A. (McCluskey) Yes. 13 | think I've indicated in the testimony that two
14 Q. Isthe cost of RECs under the PPA one of the 14 biomass facilities that are selling to PSNH currently
15 significant factors driving your ultimate 15 have capacity factors substantially higher than the
16 recommendation that the PPA does not satisfy the public |16 87.5 used in thisanalysis. So, they have demonstrated
17 interest? 17 the capability of these types of plantsto work at a
18 A. (McCluskey) Yes, it'sthe primary concern. Let mesay, |18 very high level. When you add to that, the significant
19 we think the prices need to be adjusted, primarily the |19 incentive that Laidlaw has to maximize its profits
20 REC pricesin the PPA. 20 based on the prices that are in this PPA, | would not
21 Q. That's consistent with what you said last Tuesday, |21 be at all surprised to find that this project was
22 where you said "The major issues, in my opinion, are |22 operating in the mid 90s over an extended period of
23 the excessive REC prices, and the requirement to |23 time, mid 90s, in terms of capacity factor.
24 purchase more RECs than is actually needed.” 24 Q. And, if that happens, will you then know what PSNH will
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1 pay under the PPA? 1 A. (McCluskey) Let mefinish. The ACPisassumed to be
2 A. (McCluskey) Well know that it will be higher than--1 | 2 rising. So, there's two things happening. You havea
3 suspect it will be higher, because there are other | 3 rising ACP, and you have aincreasing discount to the
4 factors, fuel costs. So, if therewasadropinfuel | 4 ACP. And, | don't have the numbersin front of me, but
5 costs that offset the improving capacity factor, then | 5 | believe the effect is to have the REC pricesfalling,
6 it could come out to be 1.6. Who knowswhereit's | 6 if that's the way you're going to go.
7 going to come out? But there are anumber of factors | 7 Q. The ACP riseswithinflation, isthat -- isthat a
8 that could have the figure much higher than this. | 8 correct understanding?
9 There are anumber of factorsthat could haveit much | 9 A. (McCluskey) | think, for modeling purposes, the Company
10 lower than this. 10 used 2.5 percent.
11 Q. So, whichisthe amount that PSNH will pay? 11 Q. What doesthe law require this Commission to do to set
12 A. (McCluskey) Well, | think thisisareasonable |12 the ACP price?
13 estimate, based on the assumptions that we usedto |13 A. (McCluskey) | believeit isthe Consumer Price Index, |
14 developit. 14 believe is what the Commission has to use.
15 Q. So, you don't know? 15 Q. So, if the ACPismoving up with the Consumer Price
16 A. (McCluskey) It's, as| said, it's based on an 16 Index, then, in about, in constant dollars more or
17 assumption -- on assumptions. And, so, it'savalid |17 less, over the course of the term of the PPA, it would
18 number, based on the assumptions that were usedto |18 be over a 37 percent decrease in what PSNH is paying
19 calculate it. 19 for those RECs, would you agree with that?
20 Q. If you turnto your next page on your testimony, (20 A. (McCluskey) Well, the -- I'm looking at the price
21 Page 8, over at Line 14. You testify that, "Over the |21 stream for RECs. It starts at 53.80, and the very last
22 first five years, the REC price is 80 percent of the |22 figureis 53.76. And, there's movement up and there's
23 Renewables Products Payment applicable to the period |23 movement down. So, it's not a constant increase or
24 during which the RECs were produced. During the next |24 decrease.
Page 46 Page 48
1 five years, the REC priceis 75 percent of the 1 Q. Doesn't the RPS law require aload-serving entity, such
2 applicable Renewable Products Payment. Duringthe | 2 as PSNH, to obtain and retire more Class | RECs each
3 subsequent five years, the REC priceis 70 percent of | 3 year of the RPS law?
4 the applicable Renewables Products Payment. Finaly, | 4 A. (McCluskey) Yes.
5 during the remaining five years of theterm, theREC | 5 Q. And, | think you've heard me have a discussion with
6 price is 50 percent of the applicable Renewable | 6 other witnesses that, from 2010, when the PPA was filed
7 Products Payment." And, then, you continue: "The | 7 for approval with this Commission, through 2025, that
8 Renewable Products Paymentsis defined inthe PPA as | 8 the requirement for Class | RECs rose by 1,600 percent
9 the alternative compliance payment (ACP) scheduleset | 9 under the law, from a 1 percent requirement to a
10 forthin RSA 362-F." Do you seethat testimony? |10 16 percent requirement?
11 A. (McCluskey) Yes, | do. 11 A. (McCluskey) | don't recall you saying that, but I'l
12 Q. So, ingeneral, asyou described it, under the PPA, for |12 accept that's what happens.
13 thefirst five years, the price of RECsis 80 percent |13 Q. Thank you. And, during that time period, from 2010 to
14 of the ACP, then 75 for the next five years, 70 for the |14 2025, isit your opinion that there will be increased
15 third set of five years, and, for the final fiveyears, |15 load throughout New Hampshire, increased electric load?
16 PSNH would pay 50 percent of the alternative compliance |16 A. (McCluskey) Energy Service load or total?
17 price for RECs? 17 Q. Total load, for all load-serving entities in the State
18 A. (McCluskey) That's correct. 18 of New Hampshire.
19 Q. So, the price over the course of the PPA dropsfrom |19 A. (McCluskey) Well, that's going to depend on many
20 80 percent down to 50 percent, whichisa37 and ahalf |20 factors. Growth in the economy being a major one.
21 percent decrease over the course of the 20-year term? |21 Again, | haven't studied that recently. I'm not sure
22 A. (McCluskey) But the ACPitsdlf isrising. You're |22 what the latest forecasts are for the state. In this
23 making -- 23 -- in the environment of energy efficiency programs,
24 Q. TheACPisgoingup -- 24 who knows where we're going to end up. If the economy
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1 continues to be on its knees, then who knowswherethe | 1 even larger, depending upon load growth, if the supply
2 total load isgoing to go in this state. 2 of RECs does not keep up with the demand created by
3 Q. Aswego through time, and asthe legal requirement for | 3 law, then would you expect the price of RECsto rise?
4 more utilization of Class| RECs grows by that 4 A. (McCluskey) If the supply was not able to keep up with
5 1,600 percent figure we talked about, under the PPA | 5 that demand growth, then supply and demand would
6 PSNH would be paying, as we discussed earlier, | 6 indicate that prices would rise.
7 80 percent, 75 percent, 70 percent, then, ultimately, | 7 Q. Isthereany limit --
8 50 percent of the ACP to obtain those increasing | 8 A. (McCluskey) But, if pricesrise, it providesthe
9 numbers of RECs, is that correct? 9 incentive for that supplier to come forward. And, |
10 A. (McCluskey) That's what the PPA says. 10 think the Synapse study is a good example of that.
11 Q. Now, beside biomass generation, what else doesthe New |11 They used a detailed supply/demand model, and starting
12 Hampshire RPS define as a"Class | renewable resource'? |12 with the potential for different types of renewable
13 A. (McCluskey) Well, | know wind isincluded inthat. |13 resources. And, they determined that all of the RPS
14 What else have we got? 14 requirements in each of the New England states could be
15 MS. AMIDON: Mr. Chairman, did you want |15 met with those potential resources, and at prices
16  meto provide him with a statute book, so he can answer |16 significantly below the REC price that we're showing in
17  these questions, which are really based on the 17 the PPA.
18  understanding -- 18 Q. And, if there are not sufficient REC generating
19 CHAIRMAN GETZ: He appearsto haveit. |19 resources, do you agree that the only limit on the
20 BY MR. BERSAK: 20 upward price of RECs would be the alternative
21 Q. Thank you. Let mejust go through, I'm not asking if |21 compliance price?
22 you remember it: "Wind, geothermal energy, hydrogen |22 A. (McCluskey) If the price mechanism were not to work in
23 derived from biomass fuels or methane gas, ocean |23 thisregion, which is an enormous "if", then -- then
24 thermal, wave, current or tidal energy, methane gas, |24 prices would rise, and the ACP would come into effect.
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1 solar hot water heating systems used instead of 1 Q. Last Tuesday, and again this morning, Mr. Edwards asked
2 electric hot water heating, and solar not used 2 aseries of cross-examination questions concerning
3 elsewhere." Doesthat sound roughly what thelaw | 3 constraints on the Coos transmission loop. Do you
4 definesas"Class | resources'? 4 recall those questions?
5 A. (McCluskey) Yes, that's correct. 5 A. (McCluskey) | recall him asking one question. | don't
6 Q. Do you think sufficient wind generation will be built | 6 recall aseries.
7 in New Hampshire to fulfill Class| REC needs? | 7 Q. His concerns appeared to be whether there was enough
8 A. (McCluskey) | am confident of it. Astherequestfor | 8 capacity on that loop to handle all the generation that
9 proposals in Massachusetts demonstrated, that thereis | 9 might interconnect to it. Isit your understanding,
10 an abundance of developers out there that are willing |10 under Section 9.8 of the PPA, that, if the facility is
11 to provide RECs. And, so, | think, if the -- if 11 required to curtail deliveries of any products,
12 solicitation is used, then that would be the incentive |12 pursuant to the interconnection agreement or 1SO-New
13 for those devel opers to come forward and offer their |13 England notifications, that PSNH will have no
14 products. 14 obligation to pay for any products that aren't
15 Q. And, you think those will all be developed in New |15 delivered due to such curtailment?
16 Hampshire? 16 A. (McCluskey) | will assume that's what it says.
17 A. (McCluskey) It would depend on theterms of the RPF-- |17 Q. So, if Mr. Edwards concerns over limited transmission
18 sorry, the requests for proposals. 18 capacity came to fruition, and if generation at Laidlaw
19 Q. Doyou recal afigurein Mr. Sansoucy's testimony that |19 was, in fact, curtailed for any reason, nothing would
20 | believe it was something like 7,500 wind turbines |20 be delivered and PSNH wouldn't be paying for anything,
21 would have to be built to satisfy the needs of the |21 would it?
22 Class| RECsin New Hampshire? 22 A. (McCluskey) Well, | understood his question to be more
23 A. (McCluskey) | don't recall that testimony. 23 about development, rather than constraints, after the
24 Q. If the demand for RECs grows by the 1,600, or perhaps |24 project were developed. | thought he was asking, "if
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1 there's no transmission capacity availableforthe | 1 A. (McCluskey) The biomass facilities tend to, on their

2 project, would the project get developed?' And, my | 2 own, without subsidy, are unable to compete with

3 response was "well, if there is no transmission, 3 margina units. So -- and that may be because of their

4 they're, obviously, not going to develop the project.” | 4 fuel prices. So, in order to have these things built,

5 Q. And, if the Commission wasto approve the PPA, and, for | 5 in order to generate Class | RECs, you need to be able

6 whatever reason, the developer decided not to build the | 6 to cover the uneconomic portion of their operating

7 facility, what would be the impact on customers? | 7 costs. And, at the same time, you need to have the REC

8 A. (McCluskey) If the developer didn't proceed withthe-- | 8 price established, such that, overall, the investor is

9 Q. Correct. 9 going to achieve the targeted return that they need for
10 A. (McCluskey) -- with the project? I'm assuming there's |10 this particular project. So, | seethe REC price as
11 aterm in the PPA that addresses that. 1'm not sure |11 achieving those two thingsin combination. It's
12 how that reads. 12 covering for any uneconomic costs and ensuring that
13 Q. But, presumably, if PSNH does not receive any products, |13 they get the return that they expect. And, if there
14 it doesn't make any payment, so nothing would be |14 Were no economic -- uneconomic costs, then why would
15 included in the Energy Service priceto berecovered |15 they be eligible for RPS payments. So, that's how |
16 from customers, correct? 16 view it.

17 A. (McCluskey) | guessthat's how it would work, yes. |17 Earlier | described the shortfall asan

18 Q. If you turnto Page9 of your testimony, at Line 20. |18 "insufficiency". The revenue requirements of the

19 You testify that "The stated purpose of RSA 362-F, New |19 project are not sufficiently covered by their energy

20 Hampshire's RPS, isto stimulate investment inlow |20 and capacity prices. And, so, they need this

21 emission renewable generation technologies.” Doyou |21 additional stream of revenuesto cover for that

22 see that? 22 insufficiency and ensure that the return -- the

23 A. (McCluskey) Yes, | did say that. 23 targeted return is achieved. Whether you want to call

24 Q. And, you go on to testify that "The expectation was |24 that a"subsidy" or just part of making this policy
Page 54 Page 56

1 that this additional revenue stream would makeit | 1 work, that's up to you. But that's how | view what's

2 economically feasible for renewable resourcesto | 2 going on here. That's the thought process behind the

3 compete with conventional generating units. If theREC | 3 RPS law.

4 market priceisinsufficient for this purpose, 4 If the alternative compliance price is set too low,

5 renewable resources would not be built and the 5 wouldn't that hinder the devel opment of new renewable

6 resulting supply shortage would force pricestoriseto | 6 generation?

7 alevel that stimulated investment." And, yousee | 7 A. (McCluskey) The purpose of the alternative compliance

8 that? That's on -- it continues onto the next page. | 8 priceisto cap the pricesthat are paid. So,

9 A. (McCluskey) I'mjust trying to -- whereisthat? | 9 presumably, the Legislature had the idea that, while
10 Q. Page10. 10 it's good to have some kind of subsidy to ensure that
11 A. (McCluskey) Page 10. 11 these types of resources get built, there hasto be a
12 Q. Line3. 12 limit to what ratepayers would pay. So, they
13 A. (McCluskey) Yes, that's correct. 13 established this cap, recognizing that there's going to
14 Q. So, asyou heard Mr. Frantz testify to earlier this |14 be amarket for RECs, and that there could be
15 afternoon, would you agree that the additional revenue |15 supply/demand conditions which force prices up. Those
16 stream provided by the RPS law was expected to |16 conditions would be a shortage of supply. So, the cap
17 subsidize renewable generators to competein the |17 would come into effect, if, for various reasons, there
18 competitive energy marketplace? 18 was a shortage of supply, and the Legislature has said
19 A. (McCluskey) In effect, that's what's happening. 1'd |19 "we need to cap the cost subsidy", whatever.

20 like to -- the REC prices| think are doing two things. |20 Q. But, if the ACP was set at alow level, such that the
21 Certainly, in the case of the typical biomass facility |21 price of energy that a renewable generator could make
22 that -- 22 isonething, and if the REC price that it needed to
23 (Court reporter interruption.) 23 meet its cost of new entry into the marketplace, pushed
24 BY THE WITNESS: 24 the price above the ACP, then the ACP would limit what
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1 load-serving entities were willing to pay, correct? | 1 very static analysis. One would think, over time, that
2 A. (McCluskey) Well, it would. But | doubt whether -- | 2 the queue is going to change, and it's presumably going
3 legislators are advised by pretty bright people, who | 3 to change depending on what happensto pricesin the
4 arereal advocates of renewable generation. They | 4 market. So, you know, to suggest that the limit that
5 generally know what types of resources, thekind of | 5 we have iswhat's in the queue today | think iskind of
6 revenues that those resources need in order to make | 6 naive.
7 them get built, to be competitive. And, so, | don't | 7 Q. So, you disagree with this chart from | SO-New England?
8 think legidators, with their advisors, would setthe | 8 A. (McCluskey) From what | can -- as| said, thisisthe
9 price at alevel that would prevent the very thingthat | 9 first timel'velooked at it. That's my initia
10 they're looking for, which isto promote the 10 reaction toit. | don't want it to be read that I'm
11 development of these resources. 11 critical of the1SO. But that's my view of this, of
12 Q. But, ultimately, it'sthe energy marketplace that tell |12 what this chart appears to be depicting.
13 whether they've done a good job or not. 13 Q. Youthink it'slikely that there's going to be
14 A. (McCluskey) Correct. If you find the market pricesfor |14 substantial changesin projects that are going to be
15 RECs substantially below that level, the market -- the |15 developed in years 2012, 2013, 2014, from what's
16 market istelling you that there's a sufficient supply |16 depicted in this chart?
17 of these RECs, where we can afford to pay themless, |17 A. (McCluskey) | think what's going to be developed is
18 rather than more. 18 going to depend very much on what the REC prices are
19 Q. Now, speaking of supply, did you have achanceto |19 going to be. If the market signal isthere to develop
20 review the chart that was appended to PSNH's rebuttal | 20 these resources, then the market will respond.
21 testimony, which was labeled " Attachment PSNH Rebuttal |21 Developers will respond.
22 6"? That's the chart that came from the 2010 ISO-New |22 Q. But wouldn't it seem reasonable that, if a plant was
23 England Regiona Plan? 23 expected to be on linein 2014, it would be in the 1SO
24 A. (McCluskey) | don't believe | looked at it, but just |24 queue by thistime?
Page 58 Page 60
1 give me amoment -- 1 A. (McCluskey) Again, | don't know much about when
2 Q. Certainly. 2 developers have to submit to the queue. But you would
3 A. (McCluskey) -- and I'll look through thetestimony. | 3 think that they would want to get their projectsin
4 "Attachment 6", did you say? 4 early for the early years of this, of what's shownin
5 Q. Yes 5 this particular exhibit.
6 A. (McCluskey) Okay. Asl said, | -- thisisthe Concord | 6 Q. If youlook at --
7 Monitor piece? 7 A. (McCluskey) That does not prevent others from coming
8 Q. No, the next one. 8 along in subsequent years and adding themselves to the
9 A. (McCluskey) Oh, that's 5. 9 queue.
10 Q. If youlook on the bottom, it says-- I'm sorry. It's |10 Q. Oh, absolutely. But, if you look at this chart, look
11 Attachment PSNH Rebuttal 6, it's on Page 44, Bates |11 at 2014, the year when the Laidlaw project is expected
12 number. 12 to come on line, if this Power Purchase Agreement is
13 A. (McCluskey) Forty-four. Yes, | seethat. 13 approved. And, then, if you just take the middle
14 Q. Theone that says on the bottom, "Source: Page 134 of |14 block, for example, let's not take the 20 percent
15 the 2010 I SO-New England Regional System Plan". |15 extreme low, let's not take the 60 percent number,
16 A. (McCluskey) Yes. 16 extreme high, with those percentages being the
17 Q. Ifyoujust takealook at that chart, justincase |17 percentages of projects that are in the queue getting
18 you're not familiar withit. My questionisgoingto |18 developed, let's take the middle one, the 40 percent
19 be, do you disagree with this ISO-New England chart, |19 number. In 2014, doesn't this chart from 1SO show that
20 what it depicts? 20 there are insufficient RECs -- insufficient renewable
21 A. (McCluskey) Well, the straight line seems to bethe |21 generation to supply the REC needs of the region?
22 demand for RECsin the region, over time. And, you |22 A. (McCluskey) Correct. But it also saysthat -- the
23 seem to be showing different levels of development of |23 caption says, up here, says "aso can be met with
24 what's in the queue at the moment. That scemstobea |24 behind-the-meter projects, imports, new projects not in
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1 the queue, and Alternative Compliance Payments.” | 1 get its marginal -- to meet its marginal RPS needs?
2 That's my point. 2 A. (McCluskey) Under that hypothetical, prices would rise
3 Q. Absolutely. From your familiarity with theindustry in | 3 and potentially would be capped by the ACP.
4 your 30 years of doing this business, asyou testified | 4 Q. If you turnto Page 12 of your testimony, at Line 17.
5 to thismorning, isit likely that behind-the-meter | 5 A. (McCluskey) Sorry. Could you give me that again.
6 projects are going to have asubstantial impact onthe | 6 Q. Twelve, Page 12, Line 17. Y ou were asked the question:
7 need for RECs? 7 "Article 5.1 to the PPA requires PSNH to purchase all
8 (McCluskey) One would think they are goingtobe | 8 of the RECs produced by the facility. Isthis
9 incremental supply. But, again, it depends at thekind | 9 obligation consistent with PSNH's Class | obligation
10 of dollars that you throw at them. 10 under the RPS?" Do you see that?
11 Q. Aswejust discussed, isit likely for aprojectthat |11 A. (McCluskey) Yes.
12 we hopeto have on linein 2014 that isnot goingtobe |12 Q. And, you see that, underneath that, your answer was
13 in the queue and reflective in these numbers? 13 "No, for two reasons." Do you see that?
14 A. (McCluskey) | couldn't comment on whether it'slikely |14 A. (McCluskey) Yes.
15 or unlikely. 15 Q. You go onto say that, "RSA 362-F:3 requires each
16 Q. So, asthe SO chart states, RPSs -- RPS needs could |16 provider of electricity to obtain and retire RECs
17 also be met by paying the alternative compliance price, |17 sufficient in number and class type to meet or exceed
18 isthat correct? 18 specified percentages of total megawatt-hours of
19 A. (McCluskey) It could. | mentioned the Synapse report. |19 eectricity supplied by the provider to its end-use
20 Synapse did a-- what 1'd consider to be -- they hired |20 customers." Isthat correct?
21 afirm to do a sophisticated supply/demand analysisfor |21 A. (McCluskey) Correct.
22 the REC market in New England. And, started withall |22 Q. So, isit your position that PSNH's REC purchase
23 the potential resources that could be used to meet the |23 requirement under the PPA is not sufficient to meet or
24 various state RPSs. And, they have determined, right |24 exceed the RPS requirement?
Page 62 Page 64
1 throughout the period that's shown in thischart, that | 1 A. (McCluskey) It's my position that the, in certain
2 there's more than sufficient supply to meet the 2 years, the purchase of all RECs produced by Laidlaw
3 increasing requirements of the region, at pricesthat | 3 will exceed PSNH's obligation.
4 are substantially below what you're showinginthe PPA. | 4 Q. And, didn't the law say that aload-serving entity,
5 So, that analysisitself showsthat thischart really | 5 such as PSNH, is required to either meet or exceed the
6 isnaive. Thisdoes not replace, in my mind, a 6 RPS percentages?
7 sophisticated supply/demand analysis of the REC market. | 7 A. (McCluskey) It does say that. That's correct.
8 Q. So, you're saying that "ISO iswrong and Synapseis | 8 Q. Then, PSNH's purchase of RECs under the PPA, would, in
9 right"? 9 fact, comply with the RPS law, wouldn't it?
10 A. (McCluskey) I'm saying that Synapse did a supply/demand |10 A. (McCluskey) PSNH would be making that at acost in
11 analysis. And, that's the thing that you should look |11 excess of --
12 to, in order to get some feel for whether the demands |12 Q. That's not the question, Mr. McCluskey. Y our testimony
13 can be met and at appropriate prices. 13 was whether PSNH's purchase of RECs would be consistent
14 Q. Haveyou prepared your own analysis of regional RPS |14 with its RPS obligation under the law, and you're
15 needs and the renewabl e sources that are likely to be |15 answer was "no." Y ou went onto say that, "the law
16 available to meet those needs? 16 requires that PSNH and other load-serving entities to
17 A. (McCluskey) No, there's no need for me. The Synapse |17 meet or exceed the requirement. And, you testified
18 did that. And, actually, PSNH, along with other |18 that "PSNH would be exceeding the requirement, but we
19 electric utilitiesin theregion, hiredthemtodo |19 wouldn't be complying with the law." How can that be?
20 that. So, why would Staff need to spend itsresources |20 A. (McCluskey) | stand corrected --
21 doing the same work that Synapse was hiredtodo. |21 Q. Thank you.
22 Q. Suppose SO wasright, and supposg, in 2014, theneed |22 A. (McCluskey) -- on that issue.
23 for RECs outpaced the supply. What would bethe market {23 Q. You're aware that throughout New England there are RPS
24 price that aload-serving entity would have to pay to |24 laws in other states where the need for various classes
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1 of RECs, including what we call "Class| RECs*, grow | 1 A. (McCluskey) | am not understanding the hypothetical.
2 substantially over time, isthat correct? 2 Y ou're going to have to give that to me again.
3 A. (McCluskey) That's correct. 3 Q. Okay. Let mestart again. If the priceinthe
4 Q. If nosignificant new generation can be financed, where | 4 marketplace of RECs went up to the aternative
5 would all these new RECs come from? 5 compliance price, and if PSNH, under the PPA, was able
6 A. (McCluskey) It's hard to imagine that outcome, and I'll | 6 to purchase RECs at, say, 75 percent of the ACP, but we
7 explainwhy. You say that, if they "couldn'tbe | 7 had too many, as you postulate. Wouldn't we be ableto
8 financed", then, obviously, the supply would be | 8 remarket the excess RECs and make a profit on it?
9 insufficient to meet demand, and priceswouldrisesup | 9 A. (McCluskey) I've testified that it's sound business
10 tothe ACP. And, my understanding is that the ACP |10 behavior for PSNH to sell RECs at a price exceeding the
11 revenues are intended to be used for the development of |11 PPA prices. It's not asound policy to sell them at a
12 renewable resources. So, on the one hand, weare |12 price below that.
13 having -- you're essentially postulating that the |13 Q. Notwithstanding the ISO's view on the future
14 revenues produced from an ACP, when returned back to |14 availability of RECs, you go on, on Page 14, to testify
15 developers, are not going to be sufficient to have |15 about $125 million above-market cost of RECs under the
16 these projectsfinanced. And that, as| indicated |16 PPA. That'son Line 14 of Page 14. | don't think my
17 before, I'm sure the legislators were advised that that |17 dyslexia messed that one up.
18 would not be the case. The revenues generated in this |18 A. (McCluskey) Line 15, isthat what you're saying?
19 hypothetical through ACP payments should be sufficient |19 Q. It startson 14, on 14. Or 15.
20 to entice developersto build projects and have prices |20 A. (McCluskey) Page 14 or 15?
21 that will ensure that the project getsfinanced. So, |21 Q. Page 14, Line 15, "the above-market cost of $125
22 the -- | have trouble with the hypothetical that we're |22 million." To arrive at that number, isit correct that
23 going to have a situation that these projects do not |23 you used the current REC price as a benchmark?
24 get financed throughout the region. 24 A. (McCluskey) It's either that, or Synapse. Did you ask
Page 66 Page 68
1 Q. Butyou testified earlier that, ultimately, it'sgoing | 1 me a discovery question on that?
2 to be the marketplace that determines whether that ACP | 2 Q. No, but I'm just reading your testimony. It says,
3 was set at the correct level or not? 3 "using the current price -- market price asa
4 A. (McCluskey) Correct. The marketplace, the pricesin | 4 benchmark". So, | suppose you used the current market
5 the marketplace will adjust if there'sinsufficient | 5 as abenchmark. That'son Line 14. Do you see that,
6 supply coming forward. And, if the -- somehow the ACP | 6 Mr. McCluskey?
7 prevents that from happening, becauseit wassettoo | 7 A. (McCluskey) Yes.
8 low, I'm sure the advocates of the RPS policieswould | 8 Q. Okay. Thanks. For that benchmark price to remain
9 have the legislation changed in order to increasethe | 9 stable, your testimony necessarily implies, it's your
10 ACP, in order to make sure that didn't happen. 10 opinion a supply of Class| RECswill grow with market
11 Q. If pricesdid, for whatever reason, for RECs hit the |11 need, and that hence, within the next 14 years there
12 ACP, wouldn't it be more economic to pay afraction of |12 will be at least a 1,600 percent increase in Class |
13 the ACP price, instead of the full ACP price, in order |13 renewable generation. Do you really think that's a
14 to meet an RPS obligation? 14 reasonable assumption, given the marketplace today?
15 A. (McCluskey) If there were just two alternatives, should |15 A. (McCluskey) Okay. Could you just go through that
16 we pay the ACP or afraction of it? 16 again.
17 Q. Itisan obvious question. 17 Q. Surely. You used --
18 A. (McCluskey) Yes, it kind of is. 18 A. (McCluskey) | apologize.
19 Q. Okay. You arelistening, | appreciate that. 19 Q. You used the current market price of RECsasa
20 A. (McCluskey) Sometimes. 20 benchmark to arrive at your $125 million above-market
21 Q. So, under that scenario, if PSNH was able to purchase |21 cost of RECs under the PPA.
22 these RECs at afraction of the ACP price, any excess |22 A. (McCluskey) Okay.
23 RECs could easily be resold into the market at a |23 Q. For that benchmark price to remain stable, your
24 profit, correct? 24 testimony implies that the supply of Class | RECs will
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1 grow with the market need. And that, hence, withinthe | 1 Q. Thank you for that clarification, Mr. McCluskey. On

2 next 14 years, there will be a 1,600 percent increase | 2 Page 13, Line 2. You testify -- you can skip there.

3 in Class| renewable generation. My questionis, do | 3 That "suppliers of RECswill be paid for energy

4 you believe that's a reasonabl e assumption? 4 delivered to PSNH's end-use customers rather than to

5 A. (McCluskey) It's possible. If the -- 5 PSNH's distribution system. The cost associated with

6 Q. It'spossible, butisit reasonable? 6 the difference (i.e., distribution system losses) isto

7 A. (McCluskey) If | could finish? If the-- if thesupply | 7 be shouldered by the REC supplier. Under the PPA,

8 keeps track with the increasing demand, then it's quite | 8 however, PSNH's REC payment obligation is based on the

9 possible that we have REC pricesthat stay reasonably | 9 number of RECs delivered to its distribution system,
10 flat. 10 which means that the cost of the lost RECs will be
11 Q. That'sabig"if", isn'tit? 11 shouldered by PSNH customers. The net result is that
12 A. (McCluskey) It can go many ways. Almost certain, were |12 PSNH retail customers will face REC pricesthat are
13 going to have ups and downs, where there's more supply |13 higher than indicated in the PPA." Okay?

14 and less supply and prices are responding accordingly. |14 A. (McCluskey) That's correct.
15 But we appear to bein adownward trend at the moment |15 Q. Under the RPS law, isn't it true that the number of
16 for Class|. Whether that continues, it's difficult, |16 RECs required by aload-serving entity is based on
17 certainly difficult for me, not having done the 17 specified "percentages of total megawatt-hours of
18 supply/demand analysis that has been done by Synapse, |18 electricity supplied by the provider to its end-use
19 and they believe that prices will rise, and then will |19 customers'?
20 fall significantly. Animportant component of that |20 A. (McCluskey) To its end-use customers, that's correct.
21 analysis, | have to say, is the assumed market priceof |21 Q. And, doesn't the RPS law define a"renewable energy
22 energy at that time. Infact, Synapseis projecting |22 certificate” to be "the record that identifies and
23 that wholesale energy priceswill riseto such alevel, |23 represents each megawatt-hour generated by arenewable
24 which will reduce the pressure on REC prices, in fact, |24 energy generating source"?
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1 it will force REC pricesdown. And, so, it'snotjust | 1 A. (McCluskey) I'll accept that it saysthat.

2 -- it's not just this relationship between supply and | 2 Q. And, that's at 362-F:2, 11, in case you would like to

3 demand. There are other factors, important factors, | 3 look it up. So, under the RPS law, the need for RECs

4 like the market price of energy, which have a 4 is based upon retail megawatt-hours delivered, is that

5 significant impact on what a developer needsinorder | 5 correct?

6 to achieve the targeted return that they'relooking | 6 A. (McCluskey) That's how | interpret the law, yes.

7 for. 7 Q. But the law measures the actual RECs based on

8 Q. If, asyourecommend, the Laidlaw Power Purchase | 8 megawatt-hours generated?

9 Agreement is not approved, do you really reasonably | 9 A. (McCluskey) Asl said, | accept that it saysthat.
10 think that thereislikely to be any significant 10 Q. But, inyour testimony, you say, "instead of basing a
11 increase in Class | generation in New Hampshire, to |11 REC on amegawatt-hour generated by a renewable source,
12 keep up with the legisatively mandated 1,600 percent | 12 it should be measured by a megawatt-hour delivered to
13 increase in Class | REC needs? 13 the retail customer by arenewable source." It appears
14 A. (McCluskey) Let'sget it clear that | think you chose |14 your testimony varies from the definitions contained in
15 your word carefully. Staff is not recommending |15 thelaw?

16 rejection of the PPA. We are recommending approval of |16 A. (McCluskey) No. My testimony is saying that the need

17 the PPA, with conditions. We arefully behinda |17 for PSNH to purchase RECs should be based on a certain

18 renewable project in Berlin and having the Company |18 percentage of their retail load, not the -- what is

19 having the ability to purchase the facility at theend |19 delivered at wholesale.

20 of theterm. We are not recommending -- Staff isnot |20 Q. So, where are these "lost RECS" you're talking about?

21 recommending rejection. And, we just feel that it's |21 A. (McCluskey) The lost RECs -- the pricesthat are
22 overpriced. And, also, there'sthisissue of the |22 charged by Laidlaw to PSNH are based on energy
23 quantity that has to be purchased. We fedl that, with |23 delivered to --

24 conditions imposed, that this project will survive. |24 Q. We'retalking about REC -- energy or RECs now?
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1 A. (McCluskey) Well, a REC is a megawatt-hour. 1 a"REC" is done at the generating source.
2 Q. No. ARECisaREC. A RECisacertificate. A RECis | 2 Otherwise, Mr. McCluskey, depending upon
3 asubsidy, it'satransfer of wealth. 3 where a generator is ultimately selling their RECs, the
4 A. (McCluskey) Uh-huh. 4 number of RECsit produces are going to vary. If it
5 Q. ARECisaREC. So, weretaking about the priceof | 5 sellsits RECsright in town, there might be less
6 RECs right now, correct, because you're talking about | 6 losses than if it sold them from a plant in New
7 "lost RECs'? 7 Hampshire to a REC consumer in Connecticut. How would
8 A. (McCluskey) Correct. 8 you keep track of how many RECs were produced when you
9 MS. AMIDON: Perhaps Mr. Bersak could | 9 don't have any ideawhere, you know, that there's
10 restate the question, just for my clarity. 10 differencesin line losses based upon geographic
11 MR. BERSAK: I'mjust asking that there |11 delivered ones?
12 --okay. | will try that. 12 MS. AMIDON: Well, objection. | think
13 BY MR. BERSAK: 13 there€salot of questions buried in that, with alot of
14 Q. I'mjust asking you to tell me what you mean by "lost |14  assumptions. And, frankly, Mr. Chairman, | think that the
15 RECs'? 15  witnesses could use a break, if the court stenographer
16 A. (McCluskey) The REC cost incurred by PSNH should bethe |16 also could use abreak at this point, it might be a good
17 product of a REC price and the RECs deliveredtoretail |17  time.
18 customers. That should determine the REC cost. And, |18 CHAIRMAN GETZ: well, I actually am very
19 to the extent that the price charged by Laidlaw to PSNH |19  concerned about the court reporter, because if he can't go
20 refersto "REC delivered”, then there'samismatch |20  any longer, then there's no transcript and none of this
21 between the RECs consumed or megawatt-hoursconsumed by |21 ever happened. But --
22 retail customers and what is delivered. And, theloss |22 (Laughter.)
23 isacost that is borne by PSNH customers under the |23 CHAIRMAN GETZ: well, off the record for
24 structure of the PPA. 24  asecond.
Page 74 Page 76
1 Q. So, you're suggesting the Legislature needsto change | 1 (Brief off-the-record discussion
2 the law? 2 ensued.)
3 A. (McCluskey) No. I'm suggesting that PSNH should be | 3 CHAIRMAN GETZ: Wdll, let'stake ten
4 purchasing sufficient RECsto meet itsretail load | 4  minutes, and then comein and well just do as much as we
5 times some percentage. It shouldn't be purchasingany | 5  can with the remainder of the cross. All right. So,
6 more than that, because, in doing o, it'sincreasing | 6  let'sjust take a brief recess.
7 the costs. 7 (Whereupon arecess was taken at 3:54
8 Q. Sincethe RPSlaw definesa"renewableenergy | 8 p.m. and the hearing resumed at 4:15
9 certificate” to be "the record that identifies and 9 p.m.)
10 represents each megawatt-hour generated by arenewable |10 CHAIRMAN GETZ: Okay. Mr. Bersak.
11 energy generating source." By statute, isn'tittrue |11 MR. BERSAK: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
12 that a REC is determined at the source, not at the |12 BY MR. BERSAK:
13 retail customer level? 13 Q. | think where we left off was, we were trying to figure
14 A. (McCluskey) Well, I'm reading the statute, RSA 362-F:3. |14 out where we could find the "lost RECs".
15 And, it says that they must -- the minimum requirement |15 A. (McCluskey) Yes. All I'm saying in this response that
16 isto acquire "megawatt-hours of eectricity supplied |16 starts on Page 12 is that the RECs are priced based on
17 by the provider to its end-use customers.” 17 megawatt-hours or RECs delivered to PSNH's distribution
18 Q. Correct. So, how many RECsyou need under the statute, |18 system, not to PSNH's end-use customers. PSNH has an
19 if I'm not mistaken, is determined by what is 19 obligation to purchase so many RECs, certain percentage
20 delivered. So, you determine the percentage of your |20 of theretail load. So, there's, in effect,
21 load that's required for that year and you determine |21 megawatt-hours lost in the distribution system. And,
22 how many megawatt-hours worth of RECs you need. But, |22 SO, on a per megawatt-hour delivered to retail
23 when you actually purchase the RECs, it is not true |23 customers, the price in effect is higher than what's
24 that under the law the computation of what congtitutes |24 indicated in the PPA. That's simply my point. That
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1 the price in the PPA isbased on what's delivered, | 1 simply the current level of migration.”
2 whereas the obligation is to the retail end-use 2 A. (McCluskey) What page wasit? What page?
3 customer. There'slosses of megawatt-hoursinthe | 3 Q. That'son Page 15, Line 4. Then, you continue and
4 distribution system. That, in essence, meansthat the | 4 testify about the risk if the migration rate increased.
5 price per megawatt-hour delivered to end-use customers | 5 A. (McCluskey) Okay.
6 is higher than what's specified inthe PPA. That's | 6 Q. My question is, why did you not testify that the
7 simply my point. 7 current REC price "does not represent the forecast for
8 Q. And, isn't that what is called for in the statuteand | 8 the future, but is simply the current level of REC
9 isn't that the methodology that's used by every over | 9 price, and then point out the significant cost risk if
10 load-serving entity for every other retail -- renewable |10 developers are unable to build new generation to
11 energy certificate that's produced in the State of New |11 satisfy REC needs.
12 Hampshire? 12 A. (McCluskey) Areyou referring to what | said? |
13 A. (McCluskey) My understanding is, with regard to Granite |13 thought we were talking about "migration”, on Page 15?
14 State and Unitil that I've been involved in regulating |14 Q. WEell, I'm talking about, when you talked about
15 with regard to Default Service, isthat the pricesare |15 "migration”, you used the current level, but then said
16 based on megawatt-hours delivered at retail, not at |16 "it doesn't represent aforecast for the future.”" But,
17 wholesale. 17 when you used the benchmark for REC pricing, you didn't
18 Q. Buit that's megawatt-hours, which is aform of energy. |18 qualify it by saying "it doesn't represent a forecast
19 Retail [renewable?] energy certificates are just that, |19 with significant cost risks into the future."
20 certificates. 20 A. (McCluskey) Cost risks? We use -- I've just said, we
21 A. (McCluskey) A REC is a megawatt-hour, delivered at |21 use aforecast to determine whether the PPA prices,
22 retail. 22 whether we're talking about energy or RECs, is above or
23 Q. | don't believe so, Mr. McCluskey. 23 below. But I'm not understanding where the cost risk
24 A. (McCluskey) Well, -- 24 is. It'ssimply an estimate of how cost-effective the
Page 78 Page 80
1 Q. | believeaREC isacertificatethat representsa | 1 PPA prices are.
2 megawatt-hour of generation. 2 Q. Wouldn't your calculation of the cost of RECs likely be
3 A. (McCluskey) Well, you can argue in your brief. | 3 more accurate to be using the forecast prices, rather
4 Q. Youreright. Well, hopefully, we don't haveone. | 4 than today's price as a benchmark?
5 What's the difference between a"benchmark” anda | 5 A. (McCluskey) | think that's correct. | should be using
6 "forecast"? 6 the long-term forecasts, as developed by Synapse, in
7 A. (McCluskey) If you're using a forecast of energy prices | 7 order to determine what the above-market priceis. If
8 as abenchmark to determine whether the priceisabove | 8 you're saying that | used the current price, that would
9 or below, thereis no difference. Theuse of theterm | 9 surprise me. But | will certainly check that.
10 "benchmark” isthe, essentiadly, the sameasthe |10 Q. All I can doisread what you testified to, Mr.
11 "forecast" that you're using in that calculation. 11 McCluskey, saying "using the current market price asa
12 Q. Doyou recall earlier we talked about how you used the |12 benchmark”, on Page 14, Line 14.
13 current REC market price as a benchmark to calculate |13 Let's turn to the Cumulative Reduction
14 your $125 million above-market cost of RECs, doyou |14 Fund. Mr. Long described this aspect of the PPA asan
15 recall that? 15 "innovative mechanism designed to protect customers
16 A. (McCluskey) | do. And, | think | said | wasn't sure |16 over the long term from excessively enriching the
17 what was used in that $125 million figure. 1'd haveto |17 developer." Areyou familiar with that description by
18 refer to my exhibits. 18 Mr. Long?
19 Q. Wéll, whatever it wasthat wasincluded, it wasa |19 A. (McCluskey) Sorry, | was thinking about the prior --
20 benchmark? 20 Q. Okay, let me ask you again.
21 A. (McCluskey) It was -- some benchmark was used, yes. (21 A. (McCluskey) -- the prior discussion.
22 Q. Onyour next page of testimony, when discussing |22 Q. Mr. Long described the Cumulative Reduction fund as an
23 "migration”, you say that the current migration rate |23 "innovative mechanism designed to protect customers
24 "does not represent aforecast for the future but |24 over the long-term from excessively enriching the
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1 developer." Do you recall his description? 1 A. (McCluskey) Oneistheinterest and the other oneis
2 A. (McCluskey) | do. 2 the capping of the amounts that can be repaid to
3 Q. And, inanutshell, you would agree that the Cumulative | 3 customers.
4 Reduction Fund accumulates over or under-market cost of 4 Q. And, your testimony states, "Not accumulating interest
5 energy from the PPA on anominal basis? 5 is a detriment to customers, and a benefit to PSNH,
6 A. (McCluskey) Correct. It does. 6 because it requires PSNH to make a larger investment to
7 Q. Suppose we had the identical PPA, but it did not havea | 7 acquire the facility and a consequent higher return on
8 Cumulative Reduction Fund. Would customersgainvalue | 8 rate base."
9 by the elimination of that Cumulative Reduction Fund | 9 A. (McCluskey) That's correct.
10 aspect? 10 Q. Areyouimplying that PSNH purposefully designed a CRF
11 A. (McCluskey) | would hope they would. So, | think what |11 to benefit itself, rather than its customers?
12 you're postulating is, in these negotiations, if there |12 A. (McCluskey) No, I'm not implying anything. I'm just
13 wasn't a cumul ative reduction account, then therewould |13 stating the fact how it works. That, if there'sa
14 be aless of an obligation on Laidlaw. And, onewould |14 lower balance in the Cumulative Reduction Account, then
15 hope that PSNH, as aresult of that, would be ableto |15 the remaining investment that is needed in order to
16 negotiate lower prices through the PPA. 16 acquire the facility goesinto PSNH's rate base, and it
17 Q. But, if PSNH wasn't able to negotiate lower prices |17 earns areturn on that rate base. So, to the extent
18 through the PPA, for, say, reasons of financeability, |18 it's got to make alarger capital investment in order
19 would the elimination of the CRF add any valueto |19 to acquire the facility, it benefits from that by a
20 customers? 20 higher return. That'swhat it'sin business to do, to
21 A. (McCluskey) Well, you seem to be -- if we weren't able |21 earn areturn.
22 to renegotiate the prices, would it provide any value |22 Q. Isthere acertainty that, at the end of the 20-year
23 to customers? Well, of course, it wouldn't. I've |23 period of the PPA, that PSNH will acquire the facility
24 argued that, if you eliminate a particular provision, |24 and put it into a cost-of-service rate base?
Page 82 Page 84
1 which you think has little value, but it isan 1 A. (McCluskey) There's not acertainty.
2 obligation on Laidlaw to take whatever valueisthere | 2 Q. If it'snot acertainty, how does that benefit PSNH?
3 and apply it against the purchase price for the 3 A. (McCluskey) PSNH has the option to acquire the
4 facility, then they would look at that as something | 4 facility. And, | guessthe pricethat it hasto pay,
5 that they have to meet. And, presumably, they would | 5 less the balance in the Cumul ative Reduction Account,
6 want to cover that through higher pricesfor the other | 6 it will make a determination at that time as to whether
7 products, for the three products. 7 it's worthwhile making that investment, based on its
8 Q. Potentialy. But, if you're ainvestment banker 8 determination of the market value of the facility going
9 looking at the PPA, wouldn't you be more concerned with | 9 forward.
10 having some certainty and understanding of what the |10 Q. If PSNH does not acquire the facility and put it into
11 cash flows were going to be over theterm of your |11 rate base, how does it benefit from the lack of
12 financing? 12 interest?
13 A. (McCluskey) Yes. I'm not sure what the connectionis |13 A. (McCluskey) Well, | think the answer is obvious. If it
14 between that and what we've just been discussing. But, |14 doesn't acquire the facility, there's no investment to
15 yes, if there's certainty in the prices for the 15 gointo rate base. So, it doesn't earn areturn.
16 products, that's -- and the level of the pricesare |16 Which leaves the question "what happens to the
17 such that the costs of the project can be met, along |17 Cumulative Reduction Account?"
18 with areturn, then the investment bank isgoingtobe |18 Q. You are aware, Mr. McCluskey, that the purchase option
19 very happy. 19 istransferable to athird party?
20 Q. Oneof your criticisms about the Cumulative Reduction |20 A. (McCluskey) That's correct.
21 Fund on Page 19 of your testimony isthat it "doesnot |21 Q. And that, likewise, the amount in the Cumulative
22 earn interest”, is that correct? 22 Reduction Fund are transferable to a third party?
23 A. (McCluskey) We have two criticisms, that both -- |23 A. (McCluskey) Correct.
24 Q. Right. But one of them -- 24 Q. So, presumably, one of the answers to your question of
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1 "what happens to the Cumulative Reduction Fund?' could | 1 the plants were 20 or more years old?

2 potentially be "it gets sold, with the proceedsgoing | 2 A. (McCluskey) I know many of the IPPs were bought or

3 back to customers'? 3 sold. | couldn't comment on situations regarding the

4 A. (McCluskey) That's correct. 4 biomass facilities.

5 Q. Inyour testimony, you spent nearly the entirety of | 5 Q. Do you know how much they were sold for?

6 Page 19, and continuing onto 20, complaining about the | 6 A. (McCluskey) | don't. | know there was a proceeding.

7 lack of interest on the Cumulative Reduction Fund. In | 7 No, | don't know.

8 PSNH Exhibit 9, the revised version, Item 2, Laidlaw | 8 Q. If you don't know thisinformation on the existing

9 offered to accumulate interest on the Cumulative | 9 wood-fired plants, how can you testify that "there'sa
10 Reduction amount. Last Tuesday, when you were |10 good chance the facility will have little value after
11 discussing thisitem during your direct testimony, you |11 the PPA ends'?

12 didn't endorse that change, did you? 12 A. (McCluskey) Because the value of the facility at the
13 A. (McCluskey) That's correct. 13 end of the PPA has nothing to do with what these
14 Q. Instead, you seem to say that "the accumulation of |14 facilitieswere sold for in years past. The value will
15 interest was not particularly of value, because the |15 be determined by the market conditionsin the energy
16 benefit of the CRF is ultimately limited to the fair |16 and capacity markets and by the RPS laws. And, it's
17 market value of the facility at the end of the PPA." |17 quite possible that the RPS laws may not be as
18 Isthat correct? 18 beneficia in the future as they are today. And, it's
19 A. (McCluskey) | believe | said something to that order. |19 highly likely that the wood-fired facilities will not
20 Q. So, after spending an entire page of your testimony |20 be able to compete with natural gas. So, they're
21 criticizing the PPA for not accumulating interest, and |21 probably totally dependent for their value on the REC
22 insinuating that PSNH failed to negotiate such interest |22 stream at that time. And, we simply don't know how
23 in order to benefit itself, now that the accumulation |23 generous the state is going to be with regard to those
24 of interest has been offered by Laidlaw, you say it'sa |24 payments.

Page 86 Page 88

1 "no, never mind"? 1 CHAIRMAN GETZ: Mr. Bersak, | think we

2 A. (McCluskey) No. I'm saying that the critical factoris | 2 need to, at thisjuncture, talk about tomorrow. I'm

3 the capping of the -- of what can be returned to 3 presuming you have another hour or so?

4 ratepayers. Thisinterest that you're now willingto | 4 MR. BERSAK: Praobably "or so", yes.

5 offer customers may not be returned at all. It's 5 CHAIRMAN GETZ: or so. Becausewe can

6 possible that the market value of the facility isso | 6  resumetomorrow morning at 9:00. We've got to finish with

7 low that it doesn't even cover the Cumulative Reduction | 7 cross, questions from the Bench, opportunity for redirect.

8 Account balance without interest. So, theresno | 8  Where are you on rebuttal?

9 guarantee that customers would actually receiveany of | 9 MR. BERSAK: I'm hoping we don't have to
10 thisinterest payments that the Company and Laidlaw are |10  call our witnesses back, but they will be with me just in
11 now willing to accumulate. 11  case
12 Q. So, thisgetsto your testimony on Page 20, at Line 14, |12 CHAIRMAN GETZ: well haveto deal with
13 where you testify, "1 think thereisagood chancethat |13 evidentiary issues, motions -- well, striking
14 the facility will have little value after the PPA 14  identifications, admitting evidence, and closings. You
15 ends.” 15  areraising your hand, is there something else,

16 A. (McCluskey) | did testify to that, yes. 16  Ms. Amidon?

17 Q. Do you know who owns the state's existing wood-fired |17 MS. AMIDON: Well, Mr. Chairman, given
18 IPPs? 18 thelate time and the need to prepare for redirect and
19 A. (McCluskey) The names of the owners? 19  closings, | wanted to request that we resume tomorrow at
20 Q. Yes. 20  10:00 am., instead of 9:00.

21 A. (McCluskey) No, | don't. 21 CHAIRMAN GETZ: wel, we have some other
22 Q. Doyou know if they're owned by their original owners? |22  things going on, where we would like to -- | think what we
23 A. (McCluskey) | don't believe so. 23 would need to do is go from like 9:00 to noon. We're
24 Q. Doyou know if any of them were bought or sold after |24  going to need at least a couple hour break in the middle
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of the day to attend to other things. And, so, -- and,
that's what we were discussing during the break, is how
we're going to wrap up this hearing and take care of a
number of other things that have to be done. So, | don't
know if three hoursis going to take care of al of this.
But what we'reinclined to do is start at 9:00 and work
our way through it. But, just letting you -- putting you
on notice, there may be a couple hour break, if we haveto
come back sometime in the range of 2:00 to 3:00, depending
on how far we get in the 9:00 to 12:00 period.

So, isthere anything we need to address
before we recess for the day?

(No verbal response)

CHAIRMAN GETZ: okay. Hearing nothing,
then welll see you at 9:00 tomorrow morning. Thank you,
everyone.

MR. BERSAK: Thank you.

(Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:33

p.m. and the hearing to reconvene on

February 9, 2011, commencing at 9:00

am.)
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Under (29) 40:3;68:3;78:7,11;80:3,
16:23;26:19;27.9; 511
31:7;35:10;37:14,16; | utilities(2)
39:15;42:14;45:1;46:12; 41:1;62:19
48:9;49:5;52:10;63:2, | utility (1)
10,23;64.8,14,66:21; 40:21
67:5,15;68:21;71:7,15; | utilization (1)
72:3,73:23,74:18,24 49:4

under-market (1) utilize (1)

81:4 40:16
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63:12 19:19
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52:22 V

uneconomic (3)
55:6,12,14 valid (1)

Unfavorably (1) 45:17
22:20 value (15)

Unfortunately (1) 10:7;81:8,19,22;82:1,
23:16 2;84:8;85:15,17;86:6,

Unitil (1) 14;87:10,12,14,21
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variable (1) whole (1)
22:14 10:22
variables (1) Wholesale (11)
10:11 22:21,23:8;30:13;
variations (1) 31:4,9,10,12;36:12;
32:22 69:23;72:19;77:17
varied (1) willing (4)
23:12 50:10;57:1;86:4,11
varies (1) wind (7)
72:14 9:15,18,20;49:13,22;
various (4) 50:6,20
6:12;56:17;61:24; wisdom (1)
64:24 38:16
vary (5) within (2)
7:1,14;17:7;43:15; 68:11,69:1
754 without (4)
verbal (2) 4:18;15:3;55:2;86:8
5:15;89:13 WITNESS (9)
verifiable (1) 5:19,21;28:3,6,12,17,
20:12 21;34:14;54:24
version (2) witnesses (3)
27:21,85:8 48:6;75:15;88:10
versions (1) wood (37)
21:20 10:1;16:1,2,24;19:18,
versus (1) 18,19;20:1,3,6,7,12,15;
29:9 22:1,5,7,24:11,17,23;
view (7) 25:8,12,13,19,22,23;
15:9;17:12;35:12; 26:14;28:15,20,23;29:9;
55:16;56:1;59:11,67:13 31:21;35:6;38:14,23;
volatile (6) 39:2,14;43:10
31:8;33:6;34:22;35:8; | wood-fired (3)
36:14,22 86:17,87:9,19
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50:1,2 working (4)
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35:18;47:6;89:7 6:22;74:22
ways (3) worthwhile (1)
7:5;41:19;69:12 847
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10:22,23;11:23,24; 89:3
12:4,73:3 write (1)
weather (1) 17:22
40:5 wrong (2)
weren't (1) 37:6,62:8
81:21
what's (15) Y
12:16;19:5;23:6;40:7;
54:19;56:1,58:24;59:5, |year (12)
15,17;60:4;76:23;77:1, 25:3,6,23;26:5,9,12,
6;78:5 14;39:5,18;48:3;60:11;
whereas (1) 74:21
772 yearly (1)
Whereupon (2) 254
76:7;89:18 years (29)

19:2;23:11;24:15,16;
27:1;28:11,20;29:24;
33:19;39:10;43:13,15;
45:22;46:1,3,5,13,14,15,
15;59:15;60:4,8;61:4;
64:2;68:11;69:2;87:1,14
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